#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC01-663

On Review from the District Court for the Fifth District of Florida,

Case Nos. 5D99-3165 and Case No. 5D99-3168

**ALVIN MAZOUREK**, as Hernando County Property Appraiser, et. al. Petitioners,

-vs-

WAL-MART STORES, INC.

Respondents.

#### INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONERS

#### ALVIN MAZOUREK

as Hernando County Property Appraiser, and

STATE OF FLORIDA, DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE

Mark Aliff Assistant Attorney General State of Florida The Capitol, Room-LL05 Tallahassee, FL 32399

and

Gaylord A. Wood, Jr. and B. Jordan Stuart WOOD & STUART, P.A. 206 Flagler Avenue

New Smyrna Beach, FL 32169

####

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiff in the trial Court in Case No. 97-3121-CA was Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. Defendants were Alvin Mazourek, as Hernando County Property Appraiser, Leona Bechtelheimer, as Tax Collector and Larry Fuchs, as Executive Director of the State of Florida, Department of Revenue ("DOR" herein). The Complaint challenged the assessments of Wal-Mart's tangible personal property in its two retail stores as of January 1, 1997. It alleged that Mr. Mazourek failed to consider properly the criteria in \$193.011, F.S., that the appraisal was arbitrarily based on appraisal practices which are different from those which Mr. Mazourek generally applied to comparable property within the same class as Wal-Mart's property, and that the Property Appraiser arbitrarily and discriminatorily assessed Wal-Mart's property at a higher relative and comparable value than all or substantially all other property in Hernando County.

The Complaint in Case No. 97-2994-CA was in four counts. Two of the counts related to Wal-Mart's real property used as its regional distribution center, located at 5100 Kettering Road near I-75. Count III alleged that in assessing the tangible personal property within the distribution center, Mr. Mazourek failed to consider every one of the factors contained in §§193.001 [sic] and

193.073, [sic] F.S. and the Rules and Regulations of the DOR. 1 Count IV alleged that the assessment of the tangible personal property in the distribution center was excessive when compared with the assessment of other similar tangible personal property in Hernando County, depriving Wal-Mart of equal protection under the law. Wal-Mart dismissed the real estate counts and the two cases were consolidated for trial.

The final hearing was held before the Hon. Jack Springstead, Circuit Judge, sitting as the trier of fact, from August 9, 1999 through August 18, 1999. The Transcript consists of 14 volumes with 2,460 pages of testimony and each side presented numerous exhibits. Judge Springstead personally viewed the Distribution Center, but no transcript exists to document his visit.

Wal-Mart presented no evidence in support of its claims that Mr. Mazourek arbitrarily applied different appraisal practices to Wal-Mart's property than any other tangible personal property in Hernando County, or that it was deprived of equal protection.

Judge Springstead entered a detailed Final Judgment on October 15, 1999 upholding the assessments. (A-12-20) Wal-Mart appealed the Final Judgment to the District Court of Appeal, Fifth District, which reversed. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. v. Mazourek, 778 So.2d 346

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>There is no §193.001, F.S. and §193.073, F.S., provides for how the Property Appraiser should proceed if a taxpayer files an erroneous or incomplete statement of personal property or that all the property of a taxpayer has not been returned for taxation.

(Fla. 5th DCA 2000) (A-1-11).

References in this Brief will be R-(page number) for the Record on Appeal; Tr.-(page number) to the Transcript of Testimony; PE-(exhibit number) for Wal-Mart's exhibits and DE-(exhibit number) for Defendants' exhibits, and to the Appendix to this Brief, A-(page number).

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Wal-Mart owns 2,056 stores in all 50 states. (Tr.-1092) Forty of those states assess tangible personal property. Wal-Mart returns its property for taxation in each jurisdiction in those states by an attachment to its Return with the same general information. (Tr.-1087) All 40 states and every Florida Property Appraiser values Wal-Mart's personal property by applying factors from a present worth table to Wal-Mart's reported costs. (Tr.-1081, 1088, but see Tr.-1091)

This case differs from Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. v. Todora, \_\_\_\_\_ So.2d \_\_\_\_\_, 26 F.L.W. D1035 (Fla.2nd DCA 2001) (A-33), also on review before this Court, in that in addition to its assessments of fixtures in two stores, Wal-Mart also challenged the assessment of the tangible personal property within its 1,000,000+ square foot regional distribution center. (DE-21) The major feature within this building is an immense, sophisticated computer-controlled conveyor system called a Rapistan which scans and moves merchandise

from pallets in racks to the loading area where it is loaded onto trailers to be transported to retail stores. The Rapistan is elevated in some parts of the building by a mezzanine to allow fork lifts to pass beneath the conveyors.

Store #1213 is a "Superstore" located at 13186 Cortez Boulevard in Brooksville. The store opened with all brand new fixtures and equipment in September, 1996, ninety days before the January 1, 1997 valuation date. Willa Lovett filed Wal-Mart's 1997 tangible personal property tax return with Mr. Mazourek's office stating that it purchased the tangible personal property located in that store for a total of \$2,626,309, including sales tax, transportation, handling and installation charges as required by the DOR's instructions. (DE-3, Tr.-1067-8, 1098)

She filed the returns "in bulk" by category of asset; no cost was stated for any particular asset or for any component of cost such as sales tax paid. Ms Lovett did not have a fixed asset listing of any of Wal-Mart's tangible personal property, so she was unable to supply such a list to Mr. Mazourek's office even though it was requested. (Tr.-1058) Wal-Mart's return for the Superstore contained a column entitled "Depreciated Amount" with Wal-Mart's estimate of its depreciated value, \$2,399,911. (Tr.-1070) In other Florida counties, Wal-Mart placed the "Depreciated Amount" column on the front of the return in the column marked "Taxpayer's estimate of fair market value". (Tr.-1141) Thus, the difference

between Wal-Mart's estimate of market value on its return and Mr. Mazourek's assessment was only \$99,198.2

The instructions with the return require the taxpayer to report expensed tangible personal property, i.e., property the cost of which is below the \$200 amount which Wal-Mart's accounting policies require to be capitalized and depreciated. (Tr.-1100) Even though Ms Lovett acknowledged familiarity with those instructions, her returns included only  $1/52^{nd}$  of the expensed property.(Tr.-1101) Section 195.027(4)(a), Florida Statutes, provides that the tangible personal property return form must include six categories, none of which relate to sales tax. There is no provision for reporting "usual fees and costs of sale" as in the case of the Form DR-219 which is presented for recording with deeds of real estate as required by Section 201.022, Florida Statutes.

Wal-Mart's returned costs for each category of equipment and Mr. Mazourek's assessments of that property in the Superstore are as follows:

Item	Cost	% good	Assessed Value
Store Fixtures Store Fixtures/Other Computer Equipment . Telephone System . Personal Computers (1995)	1,629,598 305,893 \$109,349 37,296 3,606	94 94 94 83 87 67	1,531,822 287,539 90,760 32,448 2,416

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>At a millage rate of 25 dollars of tax per \$1,000 of assessed value, this would indicate a tax difference between Wal-Mart's return and Mr. Mazourek's assessment of about \$2,500.

Supplies	5,000 100	5 <b>,</b> 000
(,	,	2,517 6,607

Store #967 is a conventional Wal-Mart located in Spring Hill. Wal-Mart returned \$1,661,889 as its cost for the equipment in the store as having been purchased between 1993 and 1995. The return for this store contained its own depreciation estimates ranging from 70% for fixtures purchased in 1989 to 8% for fixtures purchased in 1996. The attachment to the return contained Wal-Mart's "Depreciated Amount" of \$1,005,736.66. The Property Appraiser corrected the errors in Wal-Mart's return to a cost of \$1,662,491, and applied various amounts of depreciation depending on the age of the equipment according to the DOR's Present Worth Table as in the case of the Superstore. The maximum depreciation of 80% was applied to Wal-Mart's computer equipment purchased in 1992 and earlier. Mr. Mazourek's Director of Tangible Personal Property, Myron "Mike" King, thus established Mr. Mazourek's assessment at \$1,141,561. The difference between Wal-Mart's claimed value and Mr. Mazourek's assessment for this store was only \$135,824.

Wal-Mart's returns for the Distribution Center indicated costs of \$28,402,144 for its equipment plus an additional \$91,146 for the equipment in the trucking facility. Ms Lovett did not return its unlicensed tractors ("Yard Dogs") used to move trailers around the

Distribution Center which had a book cost of \$244,416.85. (Tr.-1109-10) There are at least 85,000 positions for pallets in Wal-Mart's pallet racks. Wal-Mart returned only \$24,000 for all of is supplies in the distribution center, including pallets. At even \$10 a pallet, the pallets should have been returned at a minimum of \$850,000. (Tr.-1116) Wal-Mart's appraiser, Les Miles, failed to value the pallets in his appraisal of the distribution center property. (Tr.-204, PE-1)

Ms Lovett could not explain how she arrived at a figure of \$24,753 for supplies. Mr. King stated that a rule of thumb is that supplies for a business should approximate 1% of the cost of the remaining tangible personal property, which means that Wal-Mart should have reported supplies for the distribution center of \$390,000, Store 1213, \$26,263, and store 967, \$16,618. (Tr.- 2082-3)

Ms Lovett also did not return as tangible personal property, the raised floor in the computer room, the expensed property not contained in Wal-Mart's capital accounts, the conveyor walkway system, tiered sprinklers in the aerosol room, cabling throughout the building, and the backup pumps and generators for the sprinkler system, so they escaped taxation for the year 1997. (Tr.-1148, 1152, 1115, 2043-53, 2056-78)

Mr King valued the tangible personal property at the distribution center for \$18,609,917 as of January 1, 1997, applying

the DOR's useful lives and Present Worth Tables to Wal-Mart's reported costs. Wal-Mart has contended that the assessments were actually made by the data-entry clerks who took the numbers from Wal-Mart's returns and entered those numbers into the computer. This is incorrect; the assessments were made by Mr. King through his design of the appraisal system, his direction that his staff use the useful lives and present worth factors provided by the DOR, and his supervision of the valuation process.

Wal-Mart's primary valuation witness was Les Miles, an appraiser from Dallas. Although the valuation date was January 1, 1997, he began his assignment in November of 1998. (Tr.-319) Thus, he had no personal knowledge whatsoever as to the quantity, size or condition of Wal-Mart's property<sup>3</sup> as of the valuation date almost two years earlier. He could not answer the question as to whether there was a sufficient supply of used equipment available on the salvage market to supply the Wal-Marts he appraised. (Tr.-321-2) Mr. Miles' associate, Neil Smith, actually inspected the stores and Mr. Miles claimed that Smith determined the quantity or size of the property. Smith did not testify, and Mr. Miles did not personally verify the quantity or size or condition of the property as of January 1, 1997.

Mr. Miles used the cost approach to value the tangible personal property in the distribution center, but was absolutely

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Two of the criteria in Section 193.011, F.S.

unable to articulate the basis for his estimate of physical and functional depreciation and economic obsolescence. (Tr. 248, 281) He listed some equipment as a "lot" but could not tell the Court either what was in it or how it was appraised. (Tr.-285) Mr. Miles could not tell the Court the basis of his values for any other equipment. (See, e.g., Tr.-287, 313, 316) Other people who Mr. Miles could not identify actually made the value conclusions for the property in the distribution center. (Tr.-244, 250)

The dealers to whom he spoke had no information on sale prices of three month old store fixtures. (Tr.-314) Wal-Mart will be absolutely unable to point to evidence in our Record to demonstrate either that there was a viable market in Hernando County for store fixtures or distribution center equipment. Neither can it show that there is no substantial, competent evidence to support the Trial Court's finding on page 7 that the Property Appraiser more than adequately considered the market in performing his cost approach.

#### THE D.O.R.'S PRESENT WORTH TABLES

Wal-Mart's case was a frontal assault on the present worth tables prescribed by the DOR for use by all property appraisers throughout the State. Its primary goal was a judicial ruling invalidating use of the tables. Although Wal-Mart called witnesses from as far away as California to testify concerning the development and validity of the tables, it came up short in that endeavor. Mr. Mazourek presented substantial expert testimony as

to their validity, and Wal-Mart apparently now concedes that their use represents an appropriate measure of market value through the replacement cost approach to value.

The appraiser first applies a trending table to the reported cost of assets by year of acquisition to adjust that cost to present reproduction cost to take inflation into account. The DOR then prescribes a useful life for various categories of assets — shorter in the case of assets such as computers, and longer in the case of assets such as store fixtures. The tables then prescribe depreciation related to those lives.

James Pence, a member of the American Society of Appraisers as is Mr. Miles, testified as an expert for the Defendants. (Tr. - 418, 439) Mr. Pence noted that from Wal-Mart's tangible personal property returns, an appraiser could not determine the nature of the property being returned. (Tr. - 447) He testified that use of the Department's present worth tables fully account for all forms of depreciation — physical, functional and economic or external. He stated that Property Appraisers allow for all forms of depreciation by adjusting the useful lives of the various types of property. (Tr. - 477, 484) He testified that most of the county Property Appraisers in Florida use the present worth tables supplied by the DOR. (Tr. - 479)

The Court accepted Stephen Barreca as an expert in the cost approach, depreciation, present worth tables, economic lives, and

review of appraisals. (Tr.-1595) He testified extensively supporting the DOR's present worth and useful life tables and addressed Mr. Miles' opinions of value. (Tr.-1565) Mr. Barreca could not determine a logical progression in Mr. Miles' opinions from data to calculations to conclusion; there were a bunch of price figures but they were not used at all. (Tr.-1757-8) The District Court made no note of Mr. Barreca's testimony in its reversal of the Trial Court.

#### ALLEGED FAILURE TO CONSIDER THE STATUTORY CRITERIA

The Trial Court's Final Judgment describes in detail the Property Appraiser's consideration of the eight criteria in Section 193.011, F.S. Mike King is a professional appraiser with extensive qualifications and was so qualified by the Trial Court. (Tr.-1992) Mr. King discussed at length how he considered each of the criteria in \$193.011, Florida Statutes in assessing tangible personal property. (Tr. - 1993-2025) The Fifth District Court of Appeal overlooked this testimony when it found (A-7-9) that he did not in fact consider those statutory criteria. Mr. Pence also reviewed the eight criteria in \$193.011, Florida Statutes, and discussed how use of the DOR-prescribed tables complies with each of the eight criteria. The Fifth District Court likewise did not mention Mr. Pence's testimony.

The District Court held at that "mere awareness of data does not rise to the level of required consideration." (A-5) Les Miles'

sole consideration of the seventh criterion in §193.011(7), F.S., "the income from said property", was to think about using it, then reject it. (Tr.-112) The Record lacks any testimony or evidence that sound appraisal practice requires an appraiser to actually go through the calculations of an approach to value in order to have a basis to reject that approach.

#### SELECTION OF THE COST APPROACH

There are three traditional approaches to value; the "cost approach", the "market" or "direct sales comparison" approach, and the "income approach" to value.

No substantial, competent evidence in the record demonstrates that there was a viable market in Hernando County in either three month old store fixtures, as in the Superstore), in specialized distribution equipment such as the Rapistan in the distribution center, or four year old equipment such as in the conventional Wal-Mart.

After the 1997 appraisals were made, but before the Value Adjustment Board hearings, Mr. King asked Wal-Mart's tax agent, Jack West, for a list of its tangible personal property, but no such list was ever furnished. (Tr. - 2027)

Mr. King stated that in his opinion, an assessment is not

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>This Court has specifically disapproved of use of the income and market approaches to assess the tangible personal property of a cable television company, *Havill v. Scripps Howard Cable Company*, 742 So.2d 210 (Fla. 1999)

completed until after the tax roll is certified. Contrary to the District Court's finding that Mr. King neither sought out nor considered market data in used equipment (A-8), he testified that he in fact contacted the market sources used by Wal-Mart's appraiser, Les Miles. (Tr. - 2030-34) All of the sources said that they had bought equipment from Wal-Mart at one time or another, but none had ever sold to Wal-Mart except one company who sold them a forklift. (Tr. - 2035) Mr. King said that these persons reported to him that it would be cost-prohibitive to expend the time to locate sufficient used equipment to outfit a new Wal-Mart store: "It would be more efficient and less expensive to buy new equipment than to utilize used equipment that had no manufacturer's warranty and was mismatched." (Tr. - 2036)

Although repeatedly pressed to identify actual market transactions from a willing seller to a willing buyer which were supposedly the basis of his opinions of market value, Les Miles was utterly unable to do so. (Tr.-238, 253, 342) He could not identify particular market transactions which were supposedly the basis for values of heavy equipment or of computer equipment.(Tr.-237, 242, 384)

The Fifth District overlooked Mike King's testimony when it found that the Property Appraiser failed to consider the market data approach. Mr. King testified:

Q: Well, you've never done a market approach in any way, shape or form before, have you?

- A: A market approach?
- Q: Yes, as you've described it this afternoon.
- A: It's my opinion that every time I look at these returns and I see a sale that, yes, I am doing a market survey. (Tr.-2112)

What personal property appraisers call the "market approach" results in an estimate of the market value of an item of tangible personal property sitting on a dealer's shelf. The term, "market value in continued use" which the American Society of Appraisers uses refers to the appraisal of equipment in use and in place, rather than in a dealer's warehouse, and describes it as follows:

To use the market approach to appraise machinery and equipment under the premise of continued use, those elements which add value-in-use must be identified and included in the appraisal. In effect, the appraiser converts the market price of the base unit to fair market value-in place. For machinery and equipment, these elements include such things as freight, installation, connections, foundations, rebuilding costs, and any indirect costs such as engineering or design fees required to place an asset in service (the same costs considered in the cost approach.)<sup>5</sup>

Mr. Barreca testified that the concept of highest and best use necessarily involves valuing the property where it is located, rather than in some dealer's inventory as Mr. Miles did. (Tr.-1765-7) He stated that one could get an extremely distorted opinion of value by trying to value a large, complex piece of machinery such as the Rapistan by looking at sales of small pieces

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Appraising Machinery and Equipment, P. 114. American Society of Appraisers, ISBN 0-07-001475-1 (New York, 1989)

of equipment which are in turn assembled into the larger machine. (Tr.-1766)

Mr. Pence disagreed with Wal-Mart that the only way to determine the value of tangible personal property is to talk with dealers. He stated that only qualified sales transactions can form market evidence. As he put it:

"When you're talking about the comparable sales approach, you're talking about the approach that utilizes sales, and it doesn't utilize what someone wants to sell something for, even if they are experts and want to sell something for... the true market is when the sale occurs." (Tr.-468)

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