IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No.: SC01-663

ALVIN MAZOUREK, as Property Appraiser of Hernando County, et al.,

Petitioners,

VS.

WAL-MART STORES, INC.,

Respondent.

ON REVIEW FROM THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL CASE NOS. 5D99-3165 and 5D99-3168

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT WAL-MART STORES, INC.

HOLLAND & KNIGHT LLP Stacy D. Blank Robert E. V. Kelley, Jr. P.O. Box 1288 Tampa, FL 33601-1288

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Fifth District properly concluded that sales tax is a cost of sale or purchase which must be excluded from assessments of tangible personal property reached using Sections 193.011(1) and (8). Sales tax is a transaction tax imposed by the state on the privilege of selling tangible personal property at retail. Thus, sales tax is an extraneous cost of sale which adds no value to the item of personal property. This Court should affirm the Fifth District's decision requiring the exclusion of sales tax from assessments reached using Sections 193.011(1) and (8).

This Court should likewise uphold the Fifth District's decision requiring property appraisers to explain their consideration of the statutory factors in Section 193.011. Contrary to the arguments advanced by the Property Appraiser, the Fifth District's decision does nothing to infringe upon the discretion afforded property appraisers, nor does it shift the burden of proof on challenges to the validity of the assessments from taxpayers to property appraisers. Florida law has long required property appraisers to consider each of the statutory factors. The Fifth District's decision states only that property appraisers should be prepared to explain that consideration. The Fifth District's decision is perfectly consistent with Florida law.

Finally, the Fifth District did not err in concluding that the Property Appraiser failed to properly consider market data as required by Sections 193.011(1) and (8). The Property Appraiser admitted at trial that he never sought out or investigated the existence of any market data. Thus, the Property

Appraiser's challenge of the Fifth District's decision must fail based on its own

admission that it failed to consider any market data. This Court should affirm the

Fifth District's decision.

ARGUMENT

The Property Appraiser's initial brief is, for the most part, much ado about nothing. The issue of whether sales tax is a cost of sale or purchase is simple and straightforward. Common sense and a basic knowledge of sales tax are enough to establish that sales tax, a transaction tax levied by the state, is a textbook example of a cost of sale or purchase. Indeed, it is hard to imagine a more obvious example of an extraneous or external cost of sale or purchase.

Likewise, there is nothing complicated or troubling about the Fifth District's conclusion that the Property Appraiser failed to consider any market data. He admitted as much. Finally, the Property Appraiser and amici curiae argue that the Fifth District has changed the law of Florida by requiring property appraisers to actually explain their consideration of the statutory factors and their reasons for choosing not to apply any of the factors. To the contrary, since long before the Fifth District's decision in this case, Florida law has required property appraisers to give meaningful consideration to each of the eight factors. All the Fifth District has done is ask property appraisers to explain that consideration. If a property appraiser has, in fact, considered the factors, asking the property appraiser to explain that process in no way changes Florida law, infringes on the property appraiser's discretion, or shifts the burden of proof on the validity of the assessment from the taxpayer to the property appraiser. The Fifth District's

18

decision in this case comports with Florida law, sound reasoning, and common sense. This Court should affirm that decision.

I. Sales Tax Is A Cost of Sale and Purchase Under Sections 193.011 (1) and (8) and Must Be Excluded From the Assessments.

Article VII, Section 4 of the Florida Constitution prescribes that all property must be assessed at "just value" for the purpose of ad valorem taxation. The terms "just value," "fair market value," and "full cash value" are legally synonymous. *See Walter v. Schuler*, 176 So. 2d 81, 83-84 (Fla. 1965); Florida Department of Revenue, Manual of Instructions, *Assessment of Tangible Personal Property* ("the *Manual*") (R. P. Ex. 6). "Just value" is defined in the Florida Administrative Code, Rule 12D-1.002(2) as follows:

Just valuation, actual value, and value — means the price at which a property, if offered for sale in the open market, with a reasonable time for the seller to find a purchaser, would transfer for cash or its equivalent, under prevailing market conditions between parties who have knowledge of the uses to which the property may be put, both seeking to maximize their gains and neither being in a position to take advantage of the exigencies of the other.

Pursuant to Section 193.011, Florida Statutes, property appraisers must take the following eight factors into account in arriving at "just value":

19

 The present cash value of the property, which is the amount a willing purchaser would pay a willing seller, exclusive of reasonable fees and costs of purchase, in cash or the immediate equivalent thereof in a transaction at arm's length;

(2) The highest and best use to which the property can be expected to be put in the immediate future and the present use of the property, taking into consideration any applicable judicial limitation, local or state land use regulation, or historic preservation ordinance, and considering any moratorium imposed by executive order, law, ordinance, regulation, resolution, or proclamation adopted by any governmental body or agency or the Governor when the moratorium or judicial limitation prohibits or restricts the development or improvement of property as otherwise authorized by applicable law....

(3) The location of said property;

(4) The quantity or size of said property;

(5) The cost of said property and the present replacement value of any improvements thereon;

- (6) The condition of said property;
- (7) The income from said property; and

(8) The net proceeds of the sale of the property, as received by the seller, after deduction of all of the usual and reasonable fees and costs of the sale, including the costs and expenses of financing, and allowance for unconventional or atypical terms of financing arrangements. When the net proceeds of the sale of any property are utilized, directly or indirectly, in the determination of just valuation of realty of the sold parcel or any other parcel under the provisions of this section the property appraiser, for the purpose of such determination, shall exclude any portion of such net proceeds attributable to payments for household furnishings or other items of personal property.

§ 193.011, Fla. Stat. (1999); see also Straughn v. Tuck, 354 So. 2d 368, 371 (Fla.

1977) (in arriving at valuation, tax assessor shall take into consideration factors set

forth in Section 193.011); Bystrom v. Equitable Life Assur. Soc'y, 416 So. 2d 1133,

1143-44 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982) ("Just valuation, as mandated by Article VII, Section

4 of the Florida Constitution, is to be arrived at by the application and

consideration of all of the statutory factors delineated by Section 193.011...."), rev.

denied, 429 So. 2d 5 (Fla. 1983).

An appraiser's assessment must carefully consider each of the eight criteria,

in good faith, and give each criterion "such weight as the facts justify." Daniel v.

Canterbury Towers, Inc., 462 So. 2d 497, 502 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984). A property

appraiser's failure to consider any one of the eight factors necessitates setting the

assessment aside. See Straughn, 354 So. 2d at 371. An incorrect application of a

factor in the assessment process amounts to a failure to consider it. See Straughn,

354 So. 2d at 371. Furthermore, a property appraiser can fulfill the requirement to

consider a factor properly only if he or she has the information necessary to do so.

See Scripps Howard Cable Company v. Havill, 665 So. 2d 1071, 1076-77 (Fla. 5th

DCA 1995), approved, 742 So. 2d 210 (Fla. 1998), reh'g denied, 24 Fla. L.

Weekly S276 (Fla. June 10, 1999); see also Wilkinson v. Kirby, 654 So. 2d 194,

196 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995) (presumption of correctness was lost because assessment was based on misapplication of law).

Mere awareness of data does not rise to the level of the required

consideration. Instead, an appraiser must engage in real analysis in considering the

application of each factor. See Schultz v. TM Florida-Ohio Realty, Ltd., 577 So. 2d

573, 575 (Fla. 1991) (appraiser's determination "will not be disturbed on review as long as each factor has been *lawfully considered* and the assessed value is within the range of reasonable appraisals."). (Emphasis added).

Although a property appraiser's assessment comes to the trial court clothed with a presumption of correctness, the presumption is lost if the taxpayer shows that the property appraiser failed to "consider properly" each of the eight criteria in Section 193.011. See § 194.301, Fla. Stat. (1999); see also Schultz, 577 So. 2d at 575. If the presumption of correctness is lost, the taxpayer need only show by a preponderance of the evidence that the appraiser's assessment exceeds just value. Even if the presumption of correctness is retained, the taxpayer may still prevail by presenting clear and convincing evidence that the assessment exceeds just value. If the property appraiser's assessment is found by a court to be erroneous, the court

may itself establish the appropriate amount of the assessment if there exists

competent, substantial evidence in the record to satisfy the requirements of Section

193.011. See § 194.301, Fla. Stat. (1999).

Under Section 193.011(1), the Property Appraiser must consider "[t]he present cash value of the property, which is the amount a willing purchaser would pay a willing seller, *exclusive of reasonable fees and costs of purchase*, in cash or the immediate equivalent thereof in a transaction at arm's length." (Emphasis added). Similarly, under Section 193.011(8), the Property Appraiser must consider "[t]he net proceeds of the sale of the property, as received by the seller, *after deduction of all of the usual and reasonable fees and costs of the sale*, including the costs and expenses of financing, and allowance for unconventional or atvpical

terms of financing arrangements." (Emphasis added). These two factors require

that the costs of sale and reciprocal costs of purchase be excluded from the

assessed value of property. See Oyster Pointe Condominium Assoc., Inc. v. Nolte,

524 So. 2d 415, 418 (Fla. 1988).⁶

In Turner v. Tokai Financial Services, Inc., 767 So. 2d 494 (Fla. 2d DCA

2000), the Second District Court of Appeal recognized that, while the values

derived under Sections 193.011(1) and (8) might differ, both sections require the

deduction of certain transaction costs. Section 193.011(1) requires the deduction

of fees and costs incurred by the buyer over the present cash value of the property.

⁶ Amici Todora, Crapo, Smith, and Higgs argue in their brief that it is questionable whether Sections 193.011(1) and (8) apply to tangible personal property at all or only to real property. To the contrary, it is beyond dispute that Sections 193.011(1) and (8) apply equally to tangible personal property. *See Southern Bell Tel. & Tel. Co. v. County of Dade*, 275 So. 2d 4, 7 (Fla. 1973) (personal property is entitled to the same "cost of sale" adjustment that real property receives in the assessment process); *Turner v. Tokai Financial Services, Inc.*, 767 So. 2d 494, 500 (Fla. 2d DCA 2000) (holding that costs of sale deduction not limited to real property); *Southern Bell Tel. & Tel. Co. v. Broward County*, 665 So. 2d 272, 275 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995) (approving property appraiser and Department of Revenue's 15% "cost of sale" adjustment under § 193.011(8) to assessment of personal property), *rev. denied*, 673 So. 2d 30 (Fla. 1996).

See Tokai, 767 So. 2d at 498. Section 193.011(8), on the other hand, requires the exclusion of the reasonable costs and fees the seller pays out of the proceeds received by the buyer. *See id.* Because sales tax is typically paid by the buyer to the seller, and then remitted by the seller to the state, sales tax should be excluded from assessments under both Sections 193.011(1) and (8). Simply stated, sales tax may be viewed either as a cost of sale *or* a cost of purchase.

Whether viewed as a cost of sale or purchase, it is clear that sales tax is an extraneous transaction cost which should be excluded from ad valorem assessments. This Court previously considered the types of transaction costs excluded under Sections 193.011(1) and (8) in the context of real property assessments. *See Oyster Pointe*, 524 So. 2d at 417-19; *see also Spanish River Resort Corp. v.* Walker, 497 So. 2d 1299, 1304 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986), *approved*, 526

So. 2d 677 (Fla. 1988). The Court's decision in Oyster Pointe is particularly

helpful here. In Oyster Pointe, the Court concluded that property appraisers should exclude from assessments the reasonable fees and costs of sale typically associated with the closing of real estate transactions, such as reasonable attorneys' fees, brokers' commissions, appraisal fees, documentary stamp taxes, survey costs, and title insurance costs. See id. at 418. Sales tax, like documentary stamp tax, is an excise tax paid by the buyer at the time of sale and is ultimately remitted to the state. Sales tax is imposed on personal property while documentary stamp tax is imposed on real property. Otherwise, the taxes serve exactly the same function. As the Fifth District concluded "sales taxes are no different from documentary stamp taxes paid on real estate exchanges." Mazourek, 778 So. 2d at 350. As a

result, Sections 193.011(1) and (8) require the exclusion of sales taxes from tangible personal property tax assessments.

The Fifth District explained further that sales tax is a tax levied by the state on each taxable transaction by those engaged in the taxable privilege of selling tangible personal property at retail. *See Mazourek*, 778 So. 2d at 350. "The sales price of an item is that cost levied by the vendor, whereas sales tax is that cost levied by the state. The two are distinct and should not be added together in the assessment of tangible personal property." *Mazourek*, 778 So. 2d at 350.⁷ Because sales tax is an extraneous cost of sale, the Fifth District properly concluded that it

must be excluded from assessments of tangible personal property.

⁷ Several amici contend that the Fifth District erred in its use of the term "sales price." The amici contend that the cost approach starts with the original or historical cost figure and not the sales price of property. Even a cursory reading of the Fifth District's opinion, however, reveals that the Court simply uses that term to distinguish between the total cost or purchase price of property, which includes transaction costs, and the actual cost of the property itself, excluding transaction costs.

The Second District also recognized just that point in its *Tokai* decision. The property appraiser in *Tokai*, like the Property Appraiser here, used a cost approach to assess the taxpayer's tangible personal property. The taxpayer argued that its property must be assessed by using market data. The trial court agreed with the taxpayer and reduced the amount of the assessment to market value as calculated by the taxpayer's expert. The property appraiser did not challenge on appeal the trial court's reduction of the assessment to market value, but instead contested a further reduction in the assessment to account for certain alleged costs of sale. See Tokai, 767 So. 2d at 496.

On appeal, the Second District noted the property appraiser's admission that "amounts not properly included in the sales price, such as sales tax..." should be deducted from the assessment. *See Tokai*, 767 So. 2d at 499. Thus, the court recognized that sales tax is an external cost of sale. On rehearing, the court added

a footnote clarifying that the property appraiser's concession was made in the

context of the market approach to value. See id. The court expressed no opinion

on whether sales tax should be excluded under any other method of valuation.

The Department of Revenue's ("DOR") Manual for 1997 likewise instructs

property appraisers that sales tax is an extraneous cost which should be excluded

from the assessed value of property under the market approach.⁸ Adopted by the

DOR pursuant to Florida Administrative Code Rule 12D-51.002, the Manual

directs property appraisers that "[s]ales tax is not to be included in the market data

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